FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
11/29/2017 8:58 AM

95272-8

COA NO. 33299-3-III

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETITIONER,

V.

### JESUS DUARTE VELA,

#### RESPONDENT

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR OKANOGAN COUNTY

# STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRANDEN E. PLATTER Prosecuting Attorney 237 4th Avenue N. P.O. Box 1130 Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

Branden E. Platter WSBA #46333 Prosecuting Attorney

#

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
II.	RELIEF REQUESTED1		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 4		
	A. The Division Three decision in <i>Duarte Vela</i> is based on an incorrect application of <i>State v. Jones</i> and the interpretation that <i>Jones</i> creates a new standard for evidentiary rulings by the trial court		
	B. <u>Division Three's decision in <i>Duarte Vela</i> is in conflict with a substantial line of cases out of the Court of Appeals.</u> 12		
	C. <u>Division Three's decision in <i>Duarte Vela</i> is inconsistent with the Supreme Court case, <i>State v. Perez-Valdez</i></u>		
VI.	CONCLUSION		
	Duarte Vela, No. 33299-3-III, Published Opinion (September 5, Appendix A		
	Duarte Vela, No. 33299-3-III, Order Denying Motion for sideration and Amending Opinion (October 31, 2017) Appendix B		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038 (1973)
Nevada v. Jackson, 133 S.Ct. 1990, 186 L.Ed. 2d 62 (2013)
Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 935 P.2d 555 (1997) 9
State v. Adamo, 120 Wn. 268, 207 P.7 (1922)
State v. Baird, 83 Wash. App. 477, 922 P.2d 157 (Div. 1 1996) 15
State v. Donald, 178 Wash. App. 250, 316 P.3d 1081 (Div. 1 2013)13
State v. Duarte Vela, COA No. 33299-3-III 1, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 18
State v. Finch, 137 Wash. 2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)18
State v. French, 157 Wash. 2d 593, 141 P.3d 54 (2006)
State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P.3d 768 (2009)
State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) 1, 4, 5, 6, 9, 10, 19
State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn.App. 530, 364 P.3d 810 (Div.1 2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1022 (2016)
State v. Madison, 53 Wash. App. 754, 770 P.2d 662 (Div. 1 1989) 15
State v. Mee Hui Kim, 134 Wash. App. 27, 139 P.3d 354 (Div. 1 2006)14
State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853 (2011)
State v. Picard, 90 Wash. App. 890, 954 P.2d 336 (Div. 2 1998) 15
State v. Rafay, 168 Wash. App. 734, 285 P.3d 83 (Div. 1 2012)
State v. Soper, 135 Wash. App. 89, 143 P.3d 335 (Div. 2 2006) 14

State v. Strizheus, 163 Wash. App. 820, 262 P.3d 100 (Div. 1 2011) 14
State v. Sublett, 156 Wash. App. 160, 231 P.3d 231 (Div. 2 2010), aff'd, 176 Wash. 2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012)
State v. Thomas, 123 Wash. App. 771, 98 P.3d 1258 (Div. 1 2004) 15
State v. Tracy, 128 Wash. App. 388, 115 P.3d 381 (Div. 2 2005), aff'd, 158 Wash. 2d 683, 147 P.3d 559 (2006)
State v. Willis, 113 Wash. App. 389, 54 P.3d 184 (Div. 1 2002), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 151 Wash. 2d 255, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004)
United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998)
Additional Authority
RAP 13.4
ER 40110
ER 402
ER 403

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney Branden E. Platter, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

#### II. RELIEF REQUESTED

The State seeks review of Division Three's decision in *State of Washington v. Jesus Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III. This opinion held that the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense was violated when the Superior Court excluded evidence offered by the defendant in support of his claim of self-defense. The published opinion was issued on September 5, 2017. A copy of the opinion appears in Appendix A. The State's timely filed motion for reconsideration was denied on October 31, 2017. A copy of the order denying reconsideration appears in Appendix B.

#### III.ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether Division Three's decision was based on an incorrect interpretation and application of State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, (2010); and whether Jones created a new standard for evidentiary rulings by a trial court.
  - 2. Whether Division Three's decision is in conflict with

multiple other decisions of the Court of Appeals.

3. Whether Division Three's decision is inconsistent with the Supreme Court's ruling in *State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808 (2011).

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 20, 2014, the defendant, Jesus Duarte Vela, shot and killed the victim, Antonio Menchaca-Naranjo. [CP 206-209] The morning of the incident, Menchaca was seen in the area of Duarte Vela's home, causing concern to Duarte Vela and his family. [RP 95, 164-165, 414, 98, 599-600] Later in the day, Menchaca showed back up in the area in an SUV driven by Mr. Martinez. [RP 101-103] Duarte Vela became more concerned because Duarte Vela did not know what Menchaca's intentions were. [RP 438] Duarte Vela began following the SUV. [RP 288] When Duarte Vela caught up with the SUV, Mr. Martinez pulled over and stopped his vehicle and Menchaca hid in the back seat. [RP 288] Duarte Vela pulled along the driver's side of Mr. Martinez's vehicle and stopped. [RP 289] After a brief conversation with Mr. Martinez, Duarte Vela drove off. [RP 246, 317] Shortly thereafter, Mr. Martinez drove back toward the Okanogan area and when they passed the same pullout, they saw Duarte Vela standing outside of his truck. [RP 291, 317]

Duarte Vela saw Menchaca in the SUV and became alarmed. [RP 421, 441, 463] He was afraid they had come looking for him and he felt

he had to do something. [RP 441, 443] Duarte Vela started following them again. [RP 292] Mr. Martinez began to stop his vehicle at another turnout to see what Duarte Vela wanted. [RP 292] Duarte Vela stopped his truck in front of Mr. Martinez's truck. [RP 292-293] Mr. Martinez, Menchaca, and Duarte Vela all exited their trucks at the same time. [RP 293, 391] Duarte Vela was angry and made comments to Menchaca, asking what they were doing at his home. [RP 294, 295, 308] Duarte Vela did not know whether they had any weapons. [RP 464, 472]

Neither Menchaca nor Mr. Martinez had made any threats to

Duarte Vela. [RP 310] Duarte Vela testified that Menchaca reached into
his pocket, made some movement, and said "sabes que cunya." [RP 348,
628-629] Duarte Vela told Menchaca "What have I told you before?

Don't go near my family," and then pulled out a gun and shot Menchaca.
[RP 295, 296, 324, 337] Duarte Vela said that when he pulled out the gun,
Menchaca was not really moving and that Mr. Martinez was just staring.
[RP 482, 487, 510-511, 685-686, 712]

Duarte Vela presented significant evidence in support of his defense of self-defense including evidence going to his state of mind at the time of the shooting and his knowledge of Menchaca's history.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Evidence was presented that Mr. Duarte Vela knew Mr. Menchaca had threatened Blanca (Mr. Duarte Vela's sister) in the past. [RP 674-75] Mr. Duarte Vela was afraid of Mr. Menchaca and fearful of him being around his family. [RP 592, 599, 697] Mr.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4 discusses the considerations governing acceptance of review. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case raises a significant question of law with regard to whether *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713 (2010) created a new standard for evidentiary rulings by trial courts. Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision is in conflict with multiple published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Finally, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court in *State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808 (2011).

A. The Division Three decision in *Duarte Vela* is based on an incorrect application of *State v. Jones* and the interpretation that *Jones* creates a new standard for evidentiary rulings by the trial court.

Division Three's decision in *Duarte Vela* is based on an interpretation and application of *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d

Duarte Vela recognized Mr. Menchaca in the vehicle and was alarmed as he felt Mr. Menchaca was staring at him. [RP 421, 441, 463] He was afraid Mr. Menchaca had come looking for him. [RP 441, 443] Mr. Duarte Vela testified that Mr. Menchaca got out of his vehicle and came toward him. [RP 445] He did not know whether Mr. Menchaca had any weapons so he was scared. [RP 464, 472] Mr. Menchaca said something in an angry tone. [RP 476] Mr. Duarte Vela testified that he felt threatened and that is why he took out his gun. [RP 476, 497, 618-19] Mr. Menchaca reached into his pocket and made some movement. [RP 348, 628-29] He testified that he was afraid of Mr. Menchaca and very fearful of Mr. Menchaca being around his family. [RP 592, 599, 697]. Duarte Vela was permitted to testify about his wife's statements, her state of mind, and her alleged fearfulness. [RP 607-608]

576 (2010) that requires a trial judge to admit evidence offered by a defendant if it is remotely probative of his defense, regardless of whether the trial court finds a legitimate, legal basis to exclude the evidence. The decision suggests that, following Jones, if the evidence could be admissible, it must be admitted. This suggests a new, heightened standard for trial courts to use in ruling on defense offered evidence that did not exist prior to Jones and the idea that a trial judge has little to no discretion in excluding defense offered evidence which is otherwise excludible under the rules of evidence.

Duarte Vela admitted evidence at trial that went to his state of mind at the time of the killing.<sup>2</sup> The trial court excluded some of the defense offered evidence based on different evidentiary rulings, stating they were either too remote or irrelevant. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 6-8. Division Three, applying *Jones*, ruled that because the evidence *could* have been admitted, the trial court was *required* to admit it and Duarte Vela was therefore denied his constitutional right to present a defense. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 24.

Division Three's decision was based entirely on Jones. In Jones,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Duarte Vela sought to admit evidence of threats made by the victim two or three years prior to the incident, the victim's history of domestic violence, an alleged abduction of the defendant's sister approximately seven years earlier, and multiple statements regarding what the defendant was thinking around the time of the killing. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 6-9.

the defendant was charged with second degree rape based on forcible compulsion. 168 Wn.2d at 717. The victim claimed the defendant put his hands around her neck and forcibly raped her. *Id.* at 717. The defendant wished to testify that on the night of the incident, the victim engaged in consensual sex with the defendant and two other men. *Id.* The defendant was attempting to offer, by his version of events, the defense of consent. The trial court excluded the evidence. *Id.* 

The Supreme Court recognized the rights of a defendant in a criminal trial and the importance of a trial court in weighing those rights in making evidentiary rulings on defense evidence.<sup>3</sup> *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. The Court then noted that the defendant was prepared to testify that the victim consented to sex during a sex party and recognized this was "Jones's entire defense." *Id* at 721. Jones's evidence, if believed, would prove consent and would provide a defense to the charge of second degree rape. *Id*. The Court therefore held that the complete bar of the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations. ... These rights are not absolute, of course. Evidence that a defendant seeks to introduce 'must be of at least minimal relevance.' Defendants have a right to present only relevant evidence, with no constitutional right to present *irrelevant* evidence. '[I]f relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial.' The State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence must also 'be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought,' and relevant information can be withheld only 'if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need.' ... We have therefore noted that for evidence of high probative value 'it appears no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22.' Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (internal citations omitted).

from testifying to his version of events violated his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. *Id.* 

Based on *Jones*, Division Three analyzed the proffered pieces of evidence to simply determine whether the evidence *could* have been admitted, notwithstanding the trial judge's rulings,<sup>4</sup> rather than reviewing the reasonableness of the trial court's rulings or the defendant's need for the precluded evidence. Having found that much of the evidence *could* have been admitted, the court then concluded "These evidentiary rulings precluded Duarte Vela from presenting a legal defense to the killing that he admitted...For this reason, the trial court's evidentiary rulings violated Duarte Vela's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense." *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 24.

The court's analysis of Menchaca's 2012 threat against Duarte Vela's family reflects the heightened evidentiary standard Division Three applied following *Jones*. The trial court ruled that the victim's 2012 prison threat was too remote in time given that the threat was made two to three years earlier and Menchaca had not been in prison since that time.

Duarte Vela, COA No. 33299-3-III at 6-7. Division Three then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court analyzed the proffered evidence and found that it was not hearsay, it was not character evidence, some of the evidence was not speculative, and that some of the evidence was not too remote. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 13, 17-20, 21, 23.

distinguished the case from *State v. Adamo*, 120 Wn. 268, 207 P. 7 (1922)<sup>5</sup> in an attempt to show that the evidence *could* have been admissible.

The Division Three court held, without any substantial reasoning, that while five years was sufficiently too remote in *Adamo*, two or three years in this case was not too remote. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 18-19. This decision was an arbitrary time distinction based entirely on the court's speculation as to circumstances of this case. The court then ruled that because the evidence could have been considered as not too remote, that *Jones* requires the evidence to be admitted and tested on cross examination.

The decision states "The evidence of Menchaca's threat to kill Duarte Vela's family was highly probative of his defense, and the Sixth Amendment right to present a defense thus requires admitting such highly probative evidence." *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 15 citing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In Adamo, the defendant was on trial for murder. 120 Wn. 268. The defendant sought to admit evidence that approximately five years before the killing, the victim had made a motion toward his hip as though he had a gun during a quarrel between the victim and a witness and that the victim had made threats of violence against the witness at that time. Id. at 269. The trial court refused to allow the testimony as too remote in time. Id. The Supreme Court recognized that a defendant charged with homicide may show that third parties had quarrels with the victim so long as the defendant knew of the quarrel at the time of the killing. Id. Such evidence can support the defendant's state of mind at the time of the killing as to whether he had reason to fear bodily harm. Id. However, the Court then held that it was not improper to exclude the evidence as too remote. Id. at 270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The decision made comment that "[the victim] may have been delayed in accomplishing his threat by being in prison and then being deported back to Mexico." *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 18.

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720-721. The court further stated that

if the evidence is weak or false, cross-examination will reveal this, and any sting caused by the admission of false evidence will not only be removed, but will invite prejudice to the defendant who introduced such evidence. For these reasons, the trial court should admit probative evidence, even if suspect, and allow it to be tested on cross-examination.

Duarte Vela, COA No. 33299-3-III at 15-16.

Division Three's interpretation and application of *Jones* extends the decision too far and the court's application signifies a heightened standard for defense evidentiary rulings. The ultimate question is whether Duarte Vela was "able to argue his theory of the case," *Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d at 816, not whether Duarte Vela's evidence *could* have been admitted.

A trial court has "broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters and will not be overturned absent manifest abuse of discretion." Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 662-663, 935 P.2d 555 (1997).

Appellate courts review decisions on the admission of evidence for abuse of discretion. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d at 814. Notwithstanding a court's de novo review of constitutional challenges, courts continue to review evidentiary rulings with an eye toward the abuse of discretion standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Division Three cited to *Jones* for the standard of review that a Sixth Amendment challenge is reviewed de novo. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 11. *Jones* based this standard of review on *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

Jones did not create a new heightened standard for defense evidence requiring that evidence that *could* be admitted *must* be admitted. Jones simply discussed the importance of the trial court weighing the probative value of proffered evidence against its prejudice or relevance. This is not a new rule and is simply a restatement of the well-established evidence rule 403.8 See also Evidence Rule 401 and 402.

Division Three quoted, with emphasis, the line from Jones stating:

Evidence of high probative value could not be restricted regardless of how compelling the State's interest may be if doing so would deprive the defendant [] of the ability to testify to [the defendant's] version of the incident.

Duarte Vela, COA No. 33299-3-III at 12 citing Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 721. However, this statement must be read in the context of the case in which is it stated. In Jones, the defendant was completely barred from presenting his version of events and the ruling was based on this premise. In Duarte Vela, the defendant presented his version of events, he just was not permitted to present every piece of evidence he wanted. As pointed out by

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719. In *Iniguez*, the Court stated the reason it was going to apply a de novo review to a decision to grant or deny a continuance, an issue normally reviewed for abuse of discretion, was because the defendant challenged it under his constitutional right to a speedy trial. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 280. However, the Court in *Iniguez*, reviewed the reasonableness of the discretionary decisions of the trial court as part of its de novo review. *Id.* at 294.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> ER 403- Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Justice Korsmo in his dissent, Duarte Vela was permitted to testify regarding why he was afraid of the victim. *Duarte Vela*, COA No. 33299-3-III at 1 (dissent). He simply was not permitted to present every piece of evidence he wanted. *Id*.

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion, even under a de novo review. This analysis requires the reviewing court to consider the reasonableness of the trial court's decision in the context of the circumstances of the case. Division Three made no reference to the substantial amount of evidence that Duarte Vela actually did present to support his claim of self-defense. The court only asked whether those isolated pieces of evidence *could* have been admissible. *Jones* also does not require a trial judge to admit weak or mildly probative evidence under the idea that it can just be subject to cross examination. Such a ruling would eliminate the entire gatekeeping function of the trial judge.

Division Three's decision appears to read *Jones* as requiring admission of all probative defense evidence, regardless of any tenable grounds for a trial judge to exclude the evidence. The decision suggests that, following *Jones*, if evidence is *admissible*, it must be *admitted*. The State asks this Court to reverse the Division Three decision on the grounds

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See n.1.

that the decision is based on an incorrect interpretation and application of *Jones*.

B. <u>Division Three's decision in *Duarte Vela* is in conflict with a substantial line of cases out of the Court of Appeals.</u>

Division Three's decision in *Duarte Vela* is in conflict with a substantial line of cases out of the Court of Appeals. Most recent is a post-*Jones* case out of Division One, *State v. Lizarraga*, 191 Wn.App. 530, 553, 364 P.3d 810 (Div.1 2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1022 (2016). In *Lizarraga*, the defendant attempted to introduce out-of-court hearsay statements. <sup>10</sup> Division One held that the trial court did not violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense when it excluded the hearsay statements. *Id.* at 553.

Division One recognized that "[t]he defendant's right to present a defense is subject to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." *Id.* at 553 citing *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038 (1973). "Evidentiary 'rules do not abridge an accused's right to present a defense so long as they are not 'arbitrary' or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In *Lizarraga*, the nature of the defendant's defense to a charge of murder was that he was not the shooter. *Lizarraga*, 191 Wn.App. at 544. During the investigation, a witness, Cervantes, told law enforcement that a different individual, Vaca-Valencia, had shot the victim. *Id.* at 539. Cervantes did not testify at trial. *Id.* at 544. The defendant sought to admit evidence of Cervantes' statement that Vaca-Valencia had shot the victim. *Id.* at 521. The trial court denied the evidence on the grounds that it was hearsay. *Id.* 

'disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve." *Lizarraga*, 191 Wn.App. at 553 citing *United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998). Accordingly, a defendant's interest in presenting relevant evidence may "bow to accommodate other legitimate interest in the criminal trial process." *Lizarraga*, 191 Wn.App. at 553 citing *Scheffer*, 523 U.S. at 308.

Therefore, in a case where the defense proffered evidence was significantly more central to the defendant's defense than that in *Duarte Vela*, Division One recognized, subsequent to *Jones*, that the rules of evidence still apply and the trial judge maintains discretion to exclude evidence relevant to the defendant's defense. *Lizarraga*, 191 Wn.App. at 553.

Lizarraga is merely one case in a substantial line of cases which have consistently held that a trial court's exclusion of defense evidence pursuant to the rules of evidence does not violate the defendant's right to present a defense:

State v. Donald, 178 Wash. App. 250, 316 P.3d 1081 (Div. 1 2013) (court rejected defendant's claim of constitutional violation from trial court's exclusion of defendant's offered testimony that other suspect had a propensity for criminal behavior and therefore committed the robbery the defendant was charged with; evidence excluded under ER 404(b)).

State v. Rafay, 168 Wash. App. 734, 285 P.3d 83 (Div. 1

2012) (no constitutional violation when trial court refused to allow defendant to call an expert who would testify that his confession was coerced).

State v. Strizheus, 163 Wash. App. 820, 262 P.3d 100 (Div. 1 2011) (no constitutional violation when trial court refused to allow defendant to present a 911 phone call where the defendant's son confessed to the crime the defendant was charged with).

State v. Sublett, 156 Wash. App. 160, 231 P.3d 231 (Div. 2 2010), as amended on reconsideration, (June 29, 2010) and aff'd, 176 Wash. 2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (defendant's constitutional rights were not violated when defendant was prohibited from presenting evidence that was hearsay and irrelevant).

State v. Soper, 135 Wash. App. 89, 143 P.3d 335 (Div. 2 2006) (no constitutional violation when the court struck the testimony of the defendant's physician after learning the physician was not licensed to practice medicine in Washington as required by the medical marijuana defense; defendant's physician had testified that the defendant used marijuana for legitimate medical reasons).

State v. Mee Hui Kim, 134 Wash. App. 27, 139 P.3d 354 (Div. 1 2006), as amended, (July 11, 2006) (in vehicular homicide and vehicular assault case, the driver defendant sought to admit evidence that the passenger may have given her the date-rape drug; the court ruled that defendant's constitutional rights were not violated by exclusion of this evidence as it lacked foundation and was therefore irrelevant).

State v. Tracy, 128 Wash. App. 388, 115 P.3d 381 (Div. 2 2005), aff'd, 158 Wash. 2d 683, 147 P.3d 559 (2006) (in prosecution for possession of marijuana, the fact that the defendant may have had permission from a California physician to use medical marijuana in California was irrelevant; under Washington law, permission from a California physician who was not licensed to practice in

Washington was not a defense and thus was immaterial; no violation of defendant's right to fair trial).

State v. Thomas, 123 Wash. App. 771, 98 P.3d 1258 (Div. 1 2004) (trial court properly excluded testimony of a defense expert on diminished capacity where the expert's testimony was inadmissible under the normal rules of evidence; the appellate court found no constitutional violation occurred).

State v. Willis, 113 Wash. App. 389, 54 P.3d 184 (Div. 1 2002), as corrected on reconsideration, (Nov. 5, 2002) and judgment aff'd in part, rev'd on other grounds in part, 151 Wash. 2d 255, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004) (in prosecution for rape of child, trial court properly refused to allow defense expert to testify where expert was not fully qualified and lacked a reasonable basis for his opinion; appellate court rejected argument that trial court violated defendant's constitutional right to present a defense).

State v. Picard, 90 Wash. App. 890, 954 P.2d 336 (Div. 2 1998) (trial court properly refused to allow defendant to introduce exculpatory hearsay that did not fall within any exception to the hearsay rule).

State v. Baird, 83 Wash. App. 477, 922 P.2d 157 (Div. 1 1996), (defendant was charged with assaulting his wife and claimed diminished capacity based on intoxication and an enraged state of mind. Defendant offered a secret recording, made in violation of the Privacy Act, of a conversation between his wife and her lover. Defendant argued that while the recording was obtained illegally, his right to present a defense trumps the privacy statutes. Trial court properly excluded the recording as in violation of the Privacy Act).

See also *State v. Madison*, 53 Wash. App. 754, 770 P.2d 662 (Div. 1 1989) ("There is nothing ... to suggest that defendants in general are exempted from the normal rules of evidence in presenting their case.").

These cases signify an established trend of recognizing that the

rules of evidence are not trumped by a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense. In each case, as in *Duarte Vela*, the defendant offered evidence that was excludible under the rules of evidence and the courts routinely held that such exclusion did not infringe upon a defendant's right to present a defense. In every case, as in *Duarte Vela*, the defendant was permitted to present their case; they merely were not permitted to present every piece of evidence they wished.

Duarte Vela is indistinguishable from these cases making Division

Three's decision arbitrary as no distinction can be made as to why the

evidence was required to be admitted in Duarte Vela's case, but the

evidence could be properly excluded in the preceding line of cases.

Lizarraga and the entire line of cases, supra, remain consistent with

Adamo, Jones, and Perez-Valdez, infra. Duarte Vela has become an

outlier case.

This Court should reverse the Division Three ruling as inconsistent with the line of cases, *supra*, that have held a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense was not violated when the trial court excluded defense evidence properly excludible under the rules of evidence.

C. <u>Division Three's decision in *Duarte Vela* is inconsistent with the Supreme Court case, *State v. Perez-Valdez*.</u>

Division Three's decision is inconsistent with State v. Perez-

Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). In Perez-Valdez, the defendant, who was charged with rape of a child, sought to admit evidence of the victims' prior act of arson as evidence of their motive to lie in the case against Perez-Valdez. <sup>11</sup> Id. at 813. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded the defense's proffered testimony, which was central to the defendant's defense. Id. at 817. Notably, the trial court excluded the evidence in large part because the incident was too remote in time. Id. at 817. As the Court said,

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