FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2017 2:29 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 952728

COA No. 33299-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, PETITIONER

v.

JESUS DUARTE VELA, RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF OKANOGAN COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S REPLY TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Janet G. Gemberling Attorney for Respondent

JANET GEMBERLING, P.S. PO Box 8754 Spokane, WA 99203 (509) 838-8585

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Jesus Duarte Vela asks this court to deny the State's petition for review of the decision of Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The opinion was filed on September 5, 2017, and modified by an Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Amending Opinion, filed on October 31, 2017.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the Court of Appeals decision create a new standard for trial court evidentiary rulings inconsistent with prior published Washington appellate court decisions?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jesus Duarte Vela shot Antonio Menchaca and was charged with first degree murder. (RP 322; CP 206-09) He claimed he acted in self defense and sought to present testimony of his brother Alphonso to the effect that two or three years earlier Mr. Menchaca had made a telephone call from prison threatening to kill Mr. Duarte Vela's family. (1/20 RP 19, 24, 28; 1/27 RP 10) The trial court excluded the proposed testimony

absent evidence Mr. Menchaca had acted on the threat promptly after being released from prison. (1/27 RP 10-13)

The court also precluded testimony from Mr. Duarte Vela as to his reasons for fearing Mr. Menchaca, the reasons for his actions leading up to the shooting, and the nature of the bodily harm he feared immediately prior to the shooting. (RP 617-19) Mr. Duarte Vela has appealed from his ensuing conviction. (CP 1)

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be granted when a decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals, or involves a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The decision in the present case is consistent with relevant appellate decisions, in particular this court's opinion, as to the standard of review of trial court rulings denying admission of evidence relevant to the appellant's defense, under the Sixth Amendment.

The right to present testimony in one's defense is guaranteed by both the United States and the Washington Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court violated Mr. Duarte

Vela's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense by preventing a defense witnesses from testifying that he had told the defendant about Mr. Menchaca's express threat and by precluding Mr. Duarte Vela from testifying that he feared Mr. Menchaca would cause him great bodily harm or death. State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Oct. 31, 2017).

The State contends the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), and, by extension, with decisions of this Court and the lower courts that have traditionally applied the "abuse of discretion" standard of review to evidentiary rulings. The State asserts:

Division Three's decision in *Duarte Vela* is based on an interpretation and application of *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) that *requires* a trial judge to admit evidence offered by a defendant if it is remotely probative of his defense, regardless of whether the trial court finds a legitimate, legal basis to exclude the evidence. The decision suggests that, following *Jones*, if the evidence *could* be admissible, it *must* be admitted. This suggests a new, heightened standard for trial courts to use in ruling on defense offered evidence that did not exist prior to *Jones* and the idea that a trial judge has little to no

¹ In addition to offering testimony about Mr. Menchaca's threat, Mr. Duarte Vela sought to provide evidence regarding acts of violence involving Mr. Duarte Vela's family. The court of appeals declined to find that exclusion of this evidence was error in the absence of evidence that the alleged domestic violence was related to Mr. Duarte Vela's expressed fear of Mr. Menchaca. *Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 20.

discretion in excluding defense offered evidence which is otherwise excludible under the rules of evidence.

(Respondent's Brief at 4-5)

The Court of Appeals analysis begins with recognition of the "abuse of discretion" and its modification in the context of a Sixth Amendment challenge, citing *State v. Jones*:

We review a claim of a denial of Sixth Amendment rights de novo. <u>State v. Jones</u>, 168 Wash.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). We continue to review most trial court evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. But when a trial court's discretionary ruling excludes relevant evidence, the more the exclusion of that evidence prejudices an articulated defense theory, the more likely we will find that the trial court abused its discretion. <u>Id. at 720</u>, 230 P.3d 576.

Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. at 317.

Jones held that the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense includes the right to present relevant evidence; the State bears the burden of showing relevant evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the trial; and the evidence may not be excluded unless the State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence outweighs the defendant's need to present the evidence. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720; see Respondent's Brief at n. 3.

This analysis does not, as Petitioner suggests, create a new standard for determining the admissibility of relevant evidence proffered

by a defendant. *Jones* noted that "for evidence of *high* probative value 'it appears no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22.' " *Id.* (quoting *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)).

The Court of Appeals decision in the present case directly applies the components of the analysis established in *Jones*. First, the court found that because "[e]vidence of a victim's propensity toward violence that is known by the defendant is relevant to a claim of self-defense," evidence relating to "Menchaca's threat to kill Duarte Vela's family was highly probative of his defense." *Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 319 (citing *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 594-95, 682 P.2d 312 (1984), and *State v. Cloud*, 7 Wn. App. 211, 218, 498 P.2d 907 (1972)).

The court then weighed the probative value of the evidence against the State's contention that it was arguably "weak" or "false" and concluded that, while the quality of the evidence presented a question for the jury, in the context of a Sixth Amendment challenge the probative vale outweighed the potential prejudice. *Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 320-21 (citing *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720-21).

The Court of Appeals analysis is consistent with the Jones analysis and prescribed standard of review governing review of evidentiary rulings in light of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense.

Petitioner's argument that the Court of Appeals misconstrues or

misapplies this court's decision in Jones is without merit.

Petitioner argues at some length that the Court of Appeals decision

in this case is inconsistent with this Court's decision in State v. Perez-

Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853 (2011), and various other cases that

have addressed the "abuse of discretion" standard of review of rulings on

the admissibility of evidence. Any inconsistencies arise from the fact that

those cases do not address review of evidentiary rulings in light of the

Sixth Amendment right to present a defense.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly relied on and applied the rule set

forth by this court in State v. Jones. Review should be denied and the

Court of Appeals decision should be affirmed.